
Hardeman v. Monsanto Co.—Ninth Circuit holds that FIFRA did not preempt 

California common-law failure-to warn claim  

 
The pesticide Roundup contains the active ingredient of glyphosate. Substantial scientific 

controversy exists over whether glyphosate causes cancer in humans. Beginning in 1974, EPA has 

registered products containing glyphosate as an active ingredient and “repeatedly approved the use 

of glyphosate as a pesticide, each time concluding that it is not likely to be carcinogenic to 

humans.” This determination is not shared by all researchers, including the International Agency 

for Research on Cancer that issued a 2017 report classifying glyphosate as an agent “‘probably 

carcinogenic to humans’ based on glyphosate’s ‘limited evidence’ of cancer in humans and 

‘sufficient evidence’ of cancer in experimental animals.” Shortly thereafter, the California Office 

of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment categorized glyphosate pursuant to state Proposition 

65 (1986) “as a chemical known to the state to cause cancer” and thereby “triggered a state law 

requirement to attach a warning label to glyphosate products.” In 2019, and five months after the 

jury verdict in this case, an EPA official issued a letter to glyphosate-containing pesticide 

registrants stating that “EPA ‘considers the Proposition 65 warning language’ that glyphosate is 

carcinogenic ‘to constitute a false and misleading statement’ that violates FIFRA’s prohibition 

against ‘misbranded’ substances” and “instructing registrants to remove such warning statements 

from labels of glyphosate-based pesticides.” The letter nevertheless “was not the product of any 

formal proceeding, was not published in the Federal Register, did not cite any new scientific 

findings, and took no position on whether Roundup causes cancer.” 

 

Glyphosate’s potential carcinogenic effect has resulted in myriad federal and state cases seeking 

damages against Roundup’s manufacturer, Monsanto Company. The “first bellwether trial” among 

those cases occurred in the Northern District of California and generated a jury verdict in plaintiff 

Hardeman’s favor amounting to $5.27 million in compensatory damages and $75 million (reduced 

by the district court to $20 million) in punitive damages. He successfully argued in this regard that 

Roundup labeling violated California failure-to-warn law with respect to the carcinogenic risks of 

glyphosate. See, e.g., Conte v. Wyeth, Inc., 166 Cal. App. 4th 89, 101, 85 Cal. Rptr. 3d 299, 310 

(1st Dist. 2008) (“Negligence law in a failure-to-warn case requires a plaintiff to prove that a 

manufacturer or distributor did not warn of a particular risk for reasons which fell below the 

acceptable standard of care, i.e., what a reasonably prudent manufacturer would have known and 

warned about. ... The rules of strict liability require a plaintiff to prove only that the defendant did 

not adequately warn of a particular risk that was known or knowable in light of the generally 

recognized and prevailing best scientific and medical knowledge available at the time of 

manufacture and distribution.”). The Ninth Circuit affirmed the judgment in an appeal involving 

six issues, the most prominent of which for present purposes was that the Federal Insecticide, 

Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 136 to 136y, expressly or impliedly preempted the 

state law-based claim. Hardeman v. Monsanto Co., Nos. 19-16636 & 16708, 2021 WL 1940550 

(9th Cir. May 14, 2021). 

 

Under FIFRA, pesticide manufacturers must register their products with the Environmental 

Protection Agency. The agency, in turn, must consider available scientific data concerning the 

pesticide’s effect on human health in making registration determinations. However, § 136a(f)(2) 

states that “[i]n no event shall registration of an article be construed as a defense for the 

commission of any offense under this subchapter. As long as no cancellation proceedings are in 



effect registration of a pesticide shall be prima facie evidence that the pesticide, its labeling and 

packaging comply with the registration provisions of the subchapter.” Section 136v(b) further 

provides that States “shall not impose or continue in effect any requirements for labeling or 

packaging in addition to or different from those required under this subchapter.” The Supreme 

Court has construed § 136v(b) as imposing a two-part preemption test:  

For a particular state rule to be pre-empted, it must satisfy two conditions. First, it must 

be a requirement “for labeling or packaging”; rules governing the design of a product, 

for example, are not pre-empted. Second, it must impose a labeling or packaging 

requirement that is “in addition to or different from those required under this 

subchapter.” A state regulation requiring the word “poison” to appear in red letters, for 

instance, would not be pre-empted if an EPA regulation imposed the same requirement. 

Bates v. Dow Agrosciences, LLC, 544 U.S. 431, 444 (2005). The panel found that the California 

common-law claim requirements satisfied the first part “[b]ecause Hardeman’s complaint is based 

on Monsanto’s failure to provide an adequate warning on a label under California law.” As to the 

second part of the Bates preemption test: 

FIFRA’s misbranding provision requires a pesticide label “contain a warning or 

caution statement which may be necessary and if complied with ... is adequate to protect 

health and the environment.” ... Similarly, California common law requires a 

manufacturer to warn either of any health risk that is “known or knowable” (in strict 

liability) or those risks “a reasonably prudent manufacturer would have known and 

warned about” (in negligence). ... Thus, FIFRA—which requires a warning 

“necessary” and “adequate to protect health”—is broader than California’s requirement 

under negligence (no warning needed if unreasonable to do so) and is, at minimum, 

consistent with California’s requirement under strict liability (no warning needed if risk 

not known or knowable). ... Because FIFRA’s misbranding requirements parallel those 

of California’s common law duty, Hardeman’s failure-to-warn claims effectively 

enforce FIFRA’s requirement against misbranding and are thus not expressly 

preempted. 

The panel then rejected Monsanto’s argument that “because EPA repeatedly registered Roundup 

for sale without a cancer warning on the label, a jury’s decision that Roundup should include such 

a warning would effectively impose a requirement ‘in addition to or different from’ that required 

by FIFRA, and so the state law is preempted.” It reasoned that “a judge or jury could disagree and 

find that [an EPA approved] label violates FIFRA” and that, given § 136a(f)(2), such labeling 

determinations “are not dispositive of FIFRA compliance ... [and] similarly are not conclusive as 

to which common law requirements are ‘in addition to or different from’ the requirements imposed 

by FIFRA.” The panel also rejected Monsanto’s assertion that the 2019 EPA letter “carr[ied] the 

force of law” in view of the fact that it “was issued without any written notice, gave no hearing or 

opportunity to respond, and lacked any sort of dispute-resolution process.” As such, the letter 

“‘merely expressed an informal policy opinion in a letter, and it did so only after [the plaintiff’s] 

injuries were allegedly suffered.’”  

 

Having concluded that express preemption did not exist under § 136v(b), the panel turned to 

whether California common law irreconcilably conflicted with FIFRA and therefore was impliedly 

preempted. Here, it deemed Monsanto’s defense to founder on the third element of implied 

preemption as explained under Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht, 139 S. Ct. 1668, 1679 

(2019), i.e., the presence of “clear evidence” that “the agency’s actions ‘carr[ies] the force of law.’” 



This was so “because EPA’s actions—such as registering Roundup, approving Roundup’s label, 

and issuing the 2019 letter—do not have the force of law.” Nor was Monsanto placed in the 

impossible position of being foreclosed from changing Roundup’s EPA label so as to comply with 

California common law. “FIFRA and the EPA regulatory scheme provide that pesticide 

manufacturers are responsible for drafting their own product labels ... and do not need to maintain 

the same labeling as another manufacturer.” Indeed, the agency “has repeatedly permitted pesticide 

manufacturers to use the notification procedure to add notices related to cancer to their products’ 

labels[,]” and it was thus “not impossible for Monsanto to add a cancer warning to Roundup’s 

label.” 

 

The panel’s opinion with respect to the preemption issue was unanimous. One member dissented 

over the majority’s affirming the judgment as to the punitive damages award. The dissent viewed 

those damages as unconstitutionally excessive. 

 

Decision link: https://cdn.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2021/05/14/19-16636.pdf 


